
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 

1HD. 

Friday, 24 May 2019 
 
To:  Members of the Cultural & Economic Committee (Councillors A Dodwell, 
S Hemmings, C Chambers, K Cursons, D Bowater, G Perham, M Freeman, 
R Goodchild and P Snelling) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Cultural & Economic Committee to 
be held on Monday, 3 June 2019 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, The 
White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, 
Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD..  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  

 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 

the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure). 

 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


CULTURAL & ECONOMIC COMMITTEE Monday, 3 June 2019 
 

 

 

any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3(f) and 3(g). 
 

5.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS (Pages 1 - 6) 

 

 To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Cultural and 
Economic Services Committee meetings held on 11 March 2019. 
 

6.   SUB COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 7 - 10) 

 

  To receive the draft minutes of the following meeting and to consider any 
recommendations contained therein: 
 
(i) Market Sub-Committee 23 May 2019. (attached). 
 

7.   COMMUNITY EVENTS UPDATE (Pages 11 - 20) 

 

 To receive a report regarding the events programme and budget and to 
consider the recommendations contained therein. (attached). 
 

8.   SOCIAL HERITAGE TRAIL (Pages 21 - 26) 

 

 To receive an update report on the progress of the Social Heritage Trail and 
consider the recommendations therein (attached). 
 

9.   BUSINESS NETWORKING EVENT (Pages 27 - 42) 

 

 To receive a post event report on the Business Networking Event and consider 
any recommendations contained therein (attached). 
 

10.   TACTIC UPDATE (Pages 43 - 48) 

 

 To receive an update report regarding TACTIC activity during March and April 
2019 and consider the recommendation/s contained therein (attached). 
 

11.   MARKET POLICY UPDATES (Pages 49 - 56) 

 

 To receive a report and consider the recommendations contained therein 
(attached). 
 

12.   BUDGET REPORT (Pages 57 - 62) 

 

 To receive a report and consider recommendations therein (to follow). 
 

13.   TOWN CENTRE WI-FI (Pages 63 - 68) 

 

 To receive an update report regarding Town Centre Wi-Fi. (to follow). 
 



CULTURAL & ECONOMIC COMMITTEE Monday, 3 June 2019 
 

 

 

14.   COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN (Pages 69 - 70) 

 

 To receive the Committee objectives and work plan for 2019 – 2020. 
 

15.   SERVICE UPDATES  

 

 To receive verbal updates on: 
 
• Best Bar None Update  
• Pigeon Management 
• Electronic Signs 
• Town Centre Architectural Lighting Scheme 
• Summary of work activity 
 

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                                                                                      Page 64 

   
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
CULTURAL AND ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 
11 MARCH 2019 AT 1930 HOURS 

 
Present: Councillors          C Chambers 
  S Cotter – in the Chair 

  J M Freeman 
  G Perham 
          
Also in attendance:   M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
 V Cannon (Head of Cultural & Economic 

Services) 
 T Quinn (TACTIC Manager)  
 M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
  
  

                    Members of the public: 0 
Members of the press:  0 

  

156/CE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received and were accepted from Councillor 
D Bowater and Councillor F Kharawala. 

 
157/CE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  No declarations were made. 
 

158/CE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
  
 There were no questions from the public. 
 
159/CE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 
 The Committee received the draft minutes of the previous committee 

meetings held on 10 December 2018. 
 
 Item ref 147/CE Mind Space Project – the Committee was informed that initial 

application to the NHS had been declined but talks with Andrew Selous MP 
and Central Bedfordshire Council were on-going to source premises within 
the town to enable the Project to progress. 

 
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cultural and Economic Services 

Committee held on 10 December 2018 be approved as a correct record 
with the correction and were signed accordingly. 

 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  11 MARCH 2019       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  65 

160/CE SUB COMMITTEE AND TASK GROUP MINUTES 
 
 The Committee received the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee 

meeting held on 28 February 2019 for consideration. 
 
 A question was raised regarding the ground fixings for the gazebos and 

whether this would go ahead.  It was confirmed a trial area would be used to 
install ground fixings for a few gazebos to assess durability and ease of use. 

 
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee 
meeting held on 28 February 2019. 

 
161/CE  COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  
 
 The Committee received the Committee Objectives and Work Plan for the 

current year, in accordance with the Town Council’s Three Year plan and the 
Draft Work Plan for 2019-2020. 

  
 RESOLVED to note the reports. 
 
162/CE TACTIC UPDATE  
 
 The Committee received and considered  a report to update members of work 

undertaken at TACTIC during  November 2018 to January 2019 including the 
Youth Work Programme, staffing, Youth Forum Christmas Meal for ‘older’ 
residents, Talk Space and Easter schemes. 

 
 A mini booklet, (funded by a grant from Central Bedfordshire Council)  

designed by the Youth Forum, to highlight  top ten tips for Mental Health 
problems and aimed at  young people was presented to Members.  The Youth 
Forum also hoped to participate in future training to enable them to deliver 
peer awareness discussions on mental health. 

 
 The pilot project Talk Space (Emotional Well Being Service) had been well 

received with all appointments fully booked up until 31 March 2019.  It was 
hoped to continue this service to May 2019 using earmarked funds, grant 
money from Tesco bags and the annual sallaries budget.   

 
 It was noted that Tracey Quinn, TACTIC Manager, had been invited to sit on 

BRIF (Building Resilience in Families) early intervention group.  This 
identified pre-support for families or young people within the area. 

 
 Future projects were now being planned and included Easter Play schemes 

for 8-11 year olds and Easter Activity Week for 12-19 year olds.  A Spring 
satellite sport project would also take place at Page’s Park offering tennis and 
basketball and if uptake was good further sessions could be scheduled. 

  
 RESOLVED to endorse the continuation of the Talk-Space, contracted 

emotional wellbeing service for the next financial year. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  11 MARCH 2019       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  66 

163/CE BUDGET REPORT  
 
 The Committee received a budget update report for the revenue and 

earmarked reserves. 
 
 RESOLVED to 
 

(i) note the report 
(ii) allocate £5,592 (104/4000) from the TACTIC salaries budget towards 

the cost of contracted counselling services in addition to the 
allocation identified from Earmarked reserves (9020). 
 

164/CE YOUTH FILM CLUB  
 
 The Committee received and considered a report proposing a pilot project to 

assess local take-up for a Youth Film Club longer-term.  The project had been 
scheduled to run from July to September 2019 but a question was raised 
regarding this being ‘holiday’ time.  It was suggested that the time could be 
split into two sections from July to August and October to November 2019 
and a comparision made of attendance during these sessions.   

 
 The Library Theatre would pre-select the films shown and the Film Club would 

be promoted via schools, TACTIC and social media.  A membership card 
would be issued to access discounts. 

 
 RESOLVED to 
 

(i) run a pilot Youth Film Club to ascertain the viability and interest for 
a local scheme for long-term investment. 

(ii) endorse that the sum of £2,400 be utilised from Committee’s 
earmarked reserve budget (970/9026) to facilitate the pilot project. 

 
165/CE ALLOCATION OF S106 FUNDS REPORT  
 
 The Committee received and considered a report to endorse the use of 

released Section 106 funds towards four town centre enhancement projects. 
 
 The four projects identified were  
 

a) Bell Alley resurfacing 
b) Town Centre Wi-Fi 
c) Relocation of Christmas tree 
d) Road barrier/bollards 

 
 RESOLVED to endorse the four projects identified for allocation of 

Section 106, planning gain funds. 
 
166/CE SERVICE UPDATES  
 
 The Committee received verbal updates on events, Best Bar None, pigeon 

management, electronic signs, architectural lighting, Heritage Trail and the 
Youth Promise Fund. 

  

Page 3



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  11 MARCH 2019       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  67 

 
 
 
 Event Highlights 
 
 The Events team has confirmed the band concerts for the summer months 

with organisation of the Last Night of the Proms moving forward.  Forty stalls 
have booked for the Big Lunch to date with entertainment including Street 
Theatre and food demonstrations.  The Canal Festival has 58 stall holders, 8 
demonstrators, 22 boats and walkabout entertainment confirmed with stall 
holders in the Paddock area very receptive to the later finish time of 8.00 pm. 

 
 The launch of the History Trail would coincide with Living History Day 

alongside the Saturday market with initial discussions on-going at present.   
 
 Recruitment for a Town Crier went live on 1 March and ends on 31 March  

with a live final on 13 April at the Market Cross. 
 
 The Business Networking Event will be held for the 7th year  on 24 April and 

has been nominated as a finalist in the Luton and Bedfordshire Business 
Awards, results to be confirmed by the 8 May. 

 
 Best Bar None 
 
 Vulnerability Training taking place over the next week,  with assessments 

happening in March, April and May, public vote in May to June with the 
Awards Ceremony in September.  Biggleswade and Sandy have also joined 
the scheme for 2019/2020. 

 
 Pigeon Management 
 
 A roof top pigeon loft proposal is being explored, location needed, to 

encourage  pigeons to roost and their eggs would be collected and replaced 
with false eggs which would hopefully humainly impact on their population in 
the town. 

 
 Electronic Signs 
 
 All the signs now in place and working but discussions on-going re the 

installation of the sign on the by-pass. 
 
 Architectural Lighting 
 
 Letters have been sent to the venue owners and awaiting response by the 

end of March 2019.  Delivery would be venue by venue by the end of October 
2019. 

 
 Heritage Trail 
 
 Background research on-going with Local Historical and Archeological 

Society and Bedfordshire Archives Service with Launch Day on Saturday 5 
October. 

 

Page 4



Cultural and Economic Services Committee  11 MARCH 2019       
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  68 

 Youth Promise Fund 
 
 The Committee agreed this project had been a great success with £150,000 

awarded to 12 groups to access quality  provision through volunteer training, 
better equipment and access to more learning and activities.  Evaluation 
reports would be due two months after end of funded activities on 31 March 
2019. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the updates. 
 
 
167/CE TOWN BAND  
 
 The Committee received and considered a report regarding the concept of a 

Town Band.  The Committee agreed with the principle of having a band within 
the town and of inviting expressions of interest from all bands to bring back 
to a future Committee meeting to finalise details of what would be involved. 

 
 RESOLVED to endorse the principle of appointing a band to represent 

the Parish at high profile events including certain Mayoral Functions. 
  
  
The meeting closed at 2130 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 MARCH 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair                                 3 JUNE   2019 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

Page 62 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MARKETS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY 23 MAY 2019 AT 1030 HOURS 
 

Present:  Councillors  J M Freeman  
  G Perham (Chair) 
  D Bowater 
  C Chambers 
  R Berry 
  M Freeman 
  R Goodchild 
  A Dodwell (substitute K Cursons) 
  V Harvey 
   

                      Also in attendance:       V Cannon (Head of Cultural and Economic  
  Services)  
  A Harrison (Market Manager) 
  M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
  Dave Gibbins (Market Trader Representative)  
      
  
            Members of the Public: 0 
            Members of the Press: 0 
  
 

1/MK APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  
 

It was proposed and seconded that Councillor G Perham be appointed Chair of 
the Committee for 2019-2020. There were no further nominations. 

 
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor G Perham Chair of the Committee for 
the municipal year 2019-2020.   

 
2/MK APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  
 

It was proposed and seconded that Councillor D Bowater be appointed Vice-
Chair of the Committee for 2019-2020. There were no further nominations. 

 
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor D Bowater Vice Chair of the Committee 
for the municipal year 2019-2020.   

  
3/MK APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor K Cursons 
substituted by Councillor A Dodwell, Councillor P Snelling and Councillor T 
Morris. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Market Sub-Committee 23 MAY 2019   
                                                                                                                                                                 
 

Page 63 

4/MK DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.  No declarations were made.  
 

5/MK QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
  There were no questions from the public. 

   
6/MK MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The Sub-Committee received the draft minutes of the previous meeting, held 
on 28 February 2019 for consideration.  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Markets Sub-Committee meeting held 
on 28 February 2019 be approved as a correct record and were signed 
accordingly. 
 

7/MK MARKET POLICY UPDATES 
 

The Sub-Committee received and considered a report to revise the  Market 
Trader Disciplinary Procedure and to note further work in progress to review 
other existing procedures.   

 
 A question was raised regarding renaming the Cancellation Policy and after 

discussion a proposal was made to rename this policy the Safety Procedure 
Policy as this would cover a wider range of reasons for closure and clearly set 
out the process for managing safety on market days.  

 
 RESOLVED to – 
 

1.1 RECOMMEND to Policy and Finance Committee the revised Market 
Trader Disciplinary Procedure for endorsement. 
 

1.2  Rename the Market Cancellation Policy to Market Safety Policy and 
note the further work being carried out in the review of other 
existing procedures. 

 
8/MK    MARKET GENERAL UPDATE 

    
 The Sub-Committee received an update report on market activity including 

information on delivery against market plan targets, trader recruitment and 
promotion and marketing of the market.  

 
 It was noted that a further Trader Recruitment Workshop was scheduled for 

June 2019 to provide information and guidance to prospective traders.   
 
 The Sub-Committee were informed about a new themed market for the 

Tuesday market called Tasty Tuesdays.  This would be starting on the 18th 
June as a monthly lunchtime social event continuing for the summer months 

Page 8



Market Sub-Committee 23 MAY 2019   
                                                                                                                                                                 
 

Page 64 

through to August.  A suggestion was made that chairs and tables could be 
provided for customers at this market around the Market Cross to encourage 
members of the public to purchase food within the market. 

 
 A further suggestion was made to introduce music in the High Street on market 

days to improve the ambience of the market.  It was agreed to explore this and 
other options such as a busker stop and inviting children’s choirs to perform 
around the Market Cross. 

 
 A question was raised regarding the loyalty discount for traders who changed 

from permanent to casual.  It was confirmed these traders did not receive the 
loyalty discount which was only allocated to permanent traders, and that the 
cost of rent for a pitch was higher for casual traders.   

 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
9/MK BUDGET REPORT 
   

The Sub-Committee received a budget report for January to March 2019. 
  

RESOLVED to note the report. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 1129 hours. 

 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 MAY 2019. 

 

 

Chair 29 AUGUST 2019  

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 
 
 
 
 
 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee      

 
Date:  3rd June 2019  
 
Title:  Community Events update report   
 
Purpose of the Report: To provide a progress report on community 

events 
 
Contact Officer: Ben Bodsworth, Town & Community 

Promotions Manager  
 
Corporate 
Objective/s 

 LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim: 2 - To continue to support a vibrant town 
through partnership working and initiatives including management of the 
street market, support for local businesses, town and community 
promotions and town centre enhancements. 

Implications   

Financial √ Big Lunch Event remains on budget. 
Canal Festival expenditure is within budget (with additional expenditure 
previously agreed) 
Music in the Park is on budget (with additional expenditure previously 
agreed) 
Living History remains on budget and will utilise the full budget for the 2019 
event including the launch of the History Trail  
Christmas Festival weekend expenditure remains on budget. 

Human Resources   

Operational/Service 
delivery 

  

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health &Safety   

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are: 
 
1.1 To note the report. 
 
1.2 Approve the draw-down of £5000 (4508/101) from council reserves to 

support the VE Day celebrations in 2020.  
 

2. BIG LUNCH FOOD FESTIVAL 
(Report written prior to event taking place). The Big Lunch food 
festival is due to take place on Sunday 2rd June 2019 to coincide with 
the national Big Lunch initiative, organised by the Eden Project.  

 
2.1 At this year’s event, 46 food and food-related stall holders have 

registered to attend on the day along with cooking demonstrations, 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 
  

walkabout entertainers and children’s activities throughout the day. All 
entertainment and activities provided throughout the day by Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council are free for members of the public.  

 
2.2 Have-a-go workshops have been commissioned to be provided by a local 

children’s cookery school where participants will be able to make fruit kebabs 
for consumption on site.  

 
2.3 Printed material advertising (newspapers, posters, flyers) has been reduced for 

the 2019 advertising campaign due to costs and limited outlets for display. A 
well-structured social media campaign across Facebook (Town Council’s main 
page & Big Lunch specific event page) and Twitter aided by photographs from 
previous events has been a primary source of advertising.  

 
2.4 Budget (101/4552) –The budget for the Big Lunch Food Festival in the financial 

year 2018/19 is £10,000. A further £3,000 is allocated from 101/4553 for 
salaries. Income for the event is generated by the sale of pitches (circa. £3,000) 
which is also spent on the event to enhance the activities on the day.  
 

2.5 Stewarding for the event will be undertaken by a mixture of internal and external 
staffing to ensure the safety and security of members of the public attending 
the event.  
 

2.6 The event will be opened by the Mayor and the Town Crier with the stage 
programme hosted by Leighton Buzzard Speakers Club.  

 

 
3 LINSLADE CANAL FESTIVAL  

 
3.1 Linslade Canal Festival will take place on Saturday 27th July, 

celebrating its 17th Birthday. Planning is well underway with 83 
traders and 13 demonstrators confirmed alongside 27 canal boats 
currently.  
 

3.2 The festival will take place in the Paddocks, Poplars and Lakeside areas of 
Tiddenfoot Waterside Park, alongside Peace Meadow and the Grand Union 
Canal. The Poplars, Lakeside, Peace Meadow and Canal areas will run from 
11am – 5pm and the Paddocks area will run from 11am – 8pm.  
 

3.3 A team of 40+ stewards will be required to provide suitable coverage for the 
event and to ensure those visiting the event have a safe and enjoyable 
experience. We will use a mixture of internal and external staff to cover these 
roles.  

 
3.4 We will be utilising Cedars Upper School for some car parking for guests with 

disabilities this year alongside Linslade Middle School. This alleviates some of 
the pressures experienced by the Linslade Middle School car park and provides 
a better experience for our guests with disabilities. A short shuttle bus service 
operates to and from this car park.  

Page 12



 
  

 
3.5 A parking fee of £5 per car is charged, whilst a fee of £2.50 for disabled parking 

is being maintained.  
 

3.6 The Paddocks area will feature a mixture of trade, handcraft and food stalls 
along with a licensed bar area and full stage programme which is due to run 
until 8pm for the first time, with live bands playing from 3pm onwards with more 
traditional styles of entertainment prior to this.  
 

3.7 The Lakeside and Poplars areas of the site will incorporate demonstrations of 
yesteryear alongside registered charity stalls (in keeping with the event) with 
some food vendors and a smaller bar being present in the Poplars area.  
 

3.8 The event features a fun dog show on Peace Meadow which is run in 
partnership with HULA, a local animal rehoming centre. Proceeds from the dog 
show are retained by HULA to support their work.  

 
3.9 Budget (101/4515) –The budget for the Canal Festival in the financial year 

2018/19 is £18,000. A further £5,000 is allocated from 101/4553 for salaries 
and an additional £2,775 from earmarked reserves (970/9507) used to support 
the additional evening activity as approved at 15th October 2018 Cultural and 
Economic Committee meeting.  
 

3.10 Income for the event is generated by the sale of pitches, bar takings split and 
car parking sales. An income target of £10,000 has been placed in the budget 
with £500 in sponsorship, £5,000 in sold pitches already secured alongside 
£525 in trade boat pitches.  An additional income of circa £600 is expected from 
the bar takings split (based on 2018 takings) along with car parking takings of 
£3,400 (also based on 2018 takings).  
 

 
4 MUSIC IN THE PARK 
 
4.1 The Music in the Park series of concerts begins on Sunday 

2nd June and lasts until Sunday 8th September.  There is 
an additional last night of the proms screening on Saturday 
14th September (15 concerts in total).  
 

4.2 The concerts will be begin at 3pm and last approximately 90minutes with a 
15minute interval.  
 

4.3 The Last Night of the Proms screening will begin at 6.30pm and feature a live 
band and singers until the finale of the Last Night of the Proms (BBC1 at 
approximately 9pm).  
 

4.4 The café in the park will be providing refreshments for the Band Concerts, along 
with the toilets within the park being open throughout the concerts. This 
replaces the provision offered within the day-centre adjacent to the park.  

  

Page 13



 
  
4.5 Budget (101/4513) – There is an expected expenditure of £4,820 for the band 

performances, with an expenditure of £1,140 to support the additional live 
screening along with publicity materials etc. Additional expenditure of £2,760 
from earmarked reserves (970/9507) was agreed to be used as approved at 
15th October 2018 Cultural and Economic Committee meeting to support the 
development of the evening event.   

 
4.6 As per previous years, during the course of this year’s concerts, visitors will be 

asked to complete a short evaluation form.  
 

 
5 LIVING HISTORY EVENT PREPARATION  
 
5.1 Living History Day will take place on Saturday 5th October in 

the High Street alongside the market as per previous years.  
 

5.2 Working with Historical Promotions, officers are working on a programme of 
activities themed around the Victorian Era. Activities will include Queen Victoria 
& her private secretary, a roast chestnut seller and a Victorian cavalryman 
accompanied by their horse. In addition to this, a few Victorian characters 
portraying crafts and life from the Victorian era will be present.  

 
5.3 Budget (101/4516) - The budget for this year’s event is £10,000 with an 

additional £1000 for stewarding (101/4003). It is expected that the budget for 
this year’s event will be fully utilised with some expenditure used to enhance 
the launch of the history trail (working title) scheduled to take place on the same 
day.  

 
6 CHRISTMAS FESTIVAL WEEKEND  

 
6.1 Officers are beginning plans in conjunction with LB First for the 

3-day festival which will take place on 29th November - 1st 
December.  
 

6.2 The festival will feature the switching on of the Christmas Lights alongside a 
funfair, food court and stalls on Friday evening between 4pm and 8pm, with the 
switching on of the lights at 7pm. A firework display will follow the switch on.  
 

6.3 The Charter Market will be embellished on Saturday with live entertainment 
throughout the day. It is anticipated that the Kids Out Santa Dash will take place 
on the Saturday morning from Church Square. Our event facilitates the Santa 
Dash by allowing them to utilise our road closure.  
 

6.4 On Sunday, a Christmas market alongside street theatre, live music and have-
a-go activities will fill the high-street between 11am and 3pm to conclude the 
event.  
 
 
 

Page 14



 
  
7 VE DAY COMMEMORATIONS 2020  

 
7.1 Officers have received information from Bruno Peek 

(Pageantmaster) regarding the 75th anniversary commemorations 
for VE day in 2020.  
 

7.2 The anniversary is being marked over the weekend of 8th – 10th 
May 2020 with a suggested outline of activities provided by Bruno 
Peek (attached at Appendix A).  
 

7.3 Officers seek to fulfil the requirements of the VE Day commemorations by 
undertaking a programme of activity over the weekend partnering with local 
organisations to facilitate the delivery of some activity elements.  
 

7.4 A Budget of £5000 for the weekend’s programme of events is proposed which 
will cover activity on the Friday afternoon / evening, additional activity around 
the Market on Saturday and enhancement of the church services for Sunday 
morning.  
 

8 RECOMMENDATION  
 

8.1 Officers recommend the endorsement of section 1.2 which is to support the 
commemorations of VE Day 2020 with a £5000 budget drawn down from 
Council reserves (budget code 4508/101).  

 
9 INVESTMENTS AND REVIEW 
 
9.1 In 2018, Committee undertook a review of the events and agreed to utilise 

existing earmarked reserves to continue to invest and enhance some of the 
events, namely: Music in the Park, Linslade Canal Festival and the proposal to 
deliver a live screening event in the summer (the planning is yet to be 
confirmed).   
 

9.2 The above is being funded by existing Committee earmarked reserves. Pending 
the evaluation of the above being identified as successful, it is expected that 
Committee will be asked to consider longer-term investment requiring  small 
increases in event budgets in autumn during the budget setting decision 
process.  

 
9.3 The success of the events has also meant that the visitor attendance has 

increased. Whilst there are no immediate causes for concern, Officers are 
actively future-proofing all events and have commissioned an independent 
health and safety adviser to ensure all events as they grow or become more 
popular, can do so in a safely manged way.   
 

 
 
 

 

Page 15



 
  
10 CONCLUSIONS 
 
10.1 Leighton-Linslade has a well-established programme of events which are 

attracting a growing audience throughout the year. The continued investments 
in these events is vital to their success to maintain the quality that Members 
have said they want.  
 

10.2 Additional events programmed to commemorate national events have 
previously been well received within the Town and it is reasonably foreseeable 
that the VE Day commemorations will be equally as well supported.  

 
END 
 
 

Page 16



 

 

 
 

Dear Town and Parish Clerk,                                                                                                             
 

TOWN & PARISH COUNCILS -  VE DAY 75 
 
I have pleasure in outlining plans for VE Day 75, being organised to celebrate and commemorate the 75th 
Anniversary of VE Day as mentioned in my last communication to you last year. 

 

The 8th May 1945 was the day peace emerged after nearly six years of war, so the 75th anniversary on 8th May 2020 
represents an important milestone in our history.  I am sure you will agree that we cannot let this day pass without 
reflecting on the enormous sacrifice, courage and determination of people from all walks of life who saw us through 
this dark period. Our celebration, VE Day 75, will cover the weekend of 8th - 10th May 2020, and will be an 
international celebration of peace – a time to remember, reflect and pay tribute to the millions who played such a 
vital part in achieving it. 

 

This includes the Armed Forces personnel from many countries who gave their lives, and those who returned home 
injured in body and mind; the hard-working women and men who kept the factories, mines, shipyards and farms 
operating throughout the years of turmoil; the ARP wardens, police officers, doctors, nurses, firemen, local defence 
volunteers and many others who put their lives on hold to safeguard the home front.  

 

The official, exclusive charity for VE Day 75 is SSAFA, the Armed Forces Charity, which also supports the Merchant 
Navy. 

 

The planned activities over the weekend are as follows: 

 

 The Playing of Battle's O'er & VE 75 Years 

 The Nation's Toast to the Heroes of WW2 

 The Cry for Peace, around the World 

 Churches & cathedrals Ringing out for Peace 

 Street parties and parties in pubs, clubs, Hotels, on town and village greens and in halls etc 

 Services of commemoration and celebration in churches, including the reading of the Tribute to the Millions 
and the playing of the Last Post 

 

Registration for all participants will be solely through www.veday75.org. As well as adding your details you will also 
be able to download important documents, including a commemorative certificate, and view messages of support 
from individuals and organisations. 
 
FRIDAY 8TH MAY 2020 

 

3pm – Battle's O'er & VE 75 Years 

 

3pm is the time Winston Churchill officially announced the end of WW2 from the Cabinet Office at 10 Downing 
Street, London.  

 

Pipers from around the world will open VE Day 75 by playing Battle's O'er and VE 75 Years at 3pm local time in the 
country they are in, paying tribute to the millions who gave so much to earn our freedom today. Battle's O'er is the 
traditional tune played by pipers at the end of a battle, and VE 75 Years has been specially written for this occasion 
by Pipe Major Roger Bayes of the City of Norwich Pipe Band. 

 

Battle’s O’er will be played by pipers from the top of the four highest Peaks in the UK - Ben Nevis, Scotland; Scafell 
Pike, England; Mount Snowdon, Wales, and Slieve Donnard, Northern Ireland – and also at the five furthest points in 
the UK. This has never been undertaken before. 

 

Page 17

http://www.veday75.org/


 

 

 

We are encouraging pipers working that day to pause at 3pm to play the tune in their workplace. It will provide 
pipers throughout the world the opportunity to participate without having to take time off work. We are already 
aware that a nurse will be playing the pipes on her hospital ward, and that others will be playing at a railway 
company, in a field and outside a bakery. Those pipers taking part can register their involvement at the VE Day 75 
website – www.veday75.org. 

 

3pm – The Nation’s Toast to the Heroes of WW2 
To coincide with the playing of Battle's O'er thousands of pubs throughout the UK, Channel Islands and the Isle of 
Man will encourage customers to raise a glass at 3pm and take part in The Nation’s Toast to the Heroes of WW2. All 
pubs taking part can register their involvement on the VE Day 75 website – www.veday75.org. 

 

6.55pm – A Cry for Peace Around the World 
Town Criers around the world will be undertaking A Cry for Peace Around the World, kindly written for this occasion 
by Crier Peter Taunton. The 'Cry', which can be downloaded from the website, will be performed at 7pm local time in 
locations around the world, starting in New Zealand. Those Town Criers and others undertaking this 'Cry' can register 
their involvement on the VE Day 75 website – www.veday75.org. 

 

7pm – Ringing out for Peace 
Bells in churches and cathedrals will ring out at 7pm in a collective celebration of VE Day 75. The sound of church 
bells is deeply rooted in British culture. They provide the grand soundtrack to our historic moments, calling us to 
wake, to pray, to work, to arms, to feast, to celebrate and, in times of crisis, to come together. This aspect of VE Day 
75 could not be more appropriate, ringing out around the world to celebrate the peace we share today. Those 
churches taking part can register their involvement on the VE day website – www.veday75.org. 

 

7pm  onwards – Parties and Celebration 
Parties and celebrations will take place in pubs, clubs and hotels, on town and village greens and in our streets, 
bringing the communities of the nation together in common friendship. Those town and cities twinned with others 
around the world will be encouraged invite them to join in this joyous occasion. We know that many of those taking 
part will be organising firework displays over the weekend too. Those taking part in this celebratory element of the 
event can register their involvement on the VE day 75 website – www.veday75.org. 
 
SATURDAY 9TH MAY 2020 

 

Parties and celebrations continue. 
 
SUNDAY 10TH MAY 2020 

 

10.30am – Church Services of Celebration and Commemoration 
Services will take place in cathedrals and churches throughout the UK, Channel Islands and the Isle of Man to 
celebrate the peace we share today and remember those who lost their lives or returned home dreadfully wounded. 
The services will also recognise the sacrifices of those who kept the nation fed and the factories, mines and hospitals 
working during the most challenging of times. Churches wishing to take part should register their involvement on 
the VE Day 75 website – www.veday75.org. 

 

Tribute to the Millions & the Last Post 
Those planning services will be encouraged to ask a representative from their local community to read out the 
Tribute to the Millions, which can be downloaded at www.veday75.org, and involve a local bugler or trumpeter to 
play the Last Post and Reveille. Their participation can also be registered on the VE DAY 75 website – 
www.veday75.org. 

 

We do hope that you will take part in VE Day 75 especially as many of those that served at home and abroad came 
from the Towns and Parishes of England, so your involvement will be a perfect 'tribute' to the sacrifices made by so 
many of them.  
 
Please be kind enough to register your involvement in one or more of the events by going to the VE Day 75 Website - 
www.veday.org as soon as possible to enable us to keep in touch with you and update you on progress. 
 
My warmest regards, 
 

 
Bruno Peek LVO OBE OPR 

Page 18

http://www.veday75.org/
http://www.veday75.org/


 

 

Pageantmaster VE Day 75 
Tel: + 44 (0) 7737 262 913 
Email: brunopeek@mac.com 
Website: www.veday75.org 

Page 19

mailto:brunopeek@mac.com


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



 
 
 
 
 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee      

 
Date:  3 June 2019 
 
Title:  Social Heritage Trail  (working title) 
 
Purpose of the Report:                To update Members on the town trail  
 
Contact Officer:                           Sarah Jewell, Best Bar None Coordinator   
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 2. Objective 19 

Implications:   

Financial √ Utilising ring fenced reserves  

Human Resources   

Operational/Service 
delivery 

√ Creation of new town asset – heritage trail 

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health and Safety   

 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1 To note the report 
 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Town Council commissioned a Social Heritage Trail with the ambition to: 
 

 Help new and existing residents buy into the town’s heritage,  

 Create the feeling of ownership and pride amongst residents for their town, 

 Encourage people to come into the town centre to explore the shops, cafes, 
market etc. 

 
2.2 The format of the trail includes an app for use on phones and tablets, a 

physical trail-map leaflet and information pages on the Town Council website. 
 
2.3     Unlike other trails around the country which are often building/architecture 

focused, this trail is about the town’s social history – about the people who 
have made our town what it is today. Each trail location will focus on a person 
from the town’s history. 

 
2.4 Committee endorsed (Ref. 150/CE) the commission of ‘AT Creative’ to create 

the app. They specialise in heritage trails and guides, creating town trails for 
other local areas including Tring and Milton Keynes (see example 
‘Featherston Trail’ images) 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 
  

Example app: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 22



 
  
2.5    Aubergine, the creative agency (who are currently producing the new Town 

Council website) has been commissioned to create the trail branding/identity, 
plus designing and printing the trail leaflet (with map). 

 
2.6     The Council’s website will also have a trail page with information about the trail, 

app and the leaflet in a downloadable format. 
 
2.7 The project Officer has worked closely with the Historical & Archaeological 

Society of Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire Archives and other community 
members who are supporting the trail with historical research and images. 

 
2.8    The trail will be launched on Living History Day, 6th October 2019. 
 
 
3 CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1  There are four components to consider  
 

 Way markers – to maintain flexibility in the trail, the project Officer has 

pursued pavement markers/stencils as the initial way to mark each trail 

location (similar to ones used on the Children’s trail), with the intention to 

explore semi-permanent plaques/markers once the trail is established and 

we can be sure each location will also be more permanent. 

 Look and feel/trail branding – to be presented, the look and feel as 

designed by Aubergine. 

 Trail logo (name) – to be presented, options designed by Aubergine.  

 Trail locations – the map below shows the trail locations, overleaf is the 

table listing each historical person on the trail. 

 List of history people – see below list 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 23



 
  

# Historical Name & 
Location 
 

Notes Era Gender 
M/F 

1 
 

Cpt George Baker  
Old Fire Station, 
(Pizza Express) 
Market Sq 

Chief Fire Officer based at the Old Fire 
Station.  
 

1940s M 

2 Betty Holmes 
TACTIC  
14 White House 
Court 

Betty’s Tots to Teens Clothing – a shop 
Betty ran for 20years.  
The building survived the great fire 

1960s F 

3 Dickinson Sisters 
Breast Cancer 
Care, once a Red 
Cross base & the 
Corn Exchange, 
Lake Street 

Hilda Dickinson & Edith Dickinson 
Both worked for British Red Cross, 
Hilda was a Chauffeur (drove a medical 
vehicle) and received a military medal 
(rare for women)  
 

1918/ 
WW1 

F 

4 Mary Bassett  
Lecton House, 
formerly 
Temperance Hall, 
Lake Street 

Mary, a member of the Bassett family 
who helped shape Leighton Buzzard. 
Mary started classes to help teach 
useful trades to community members 
who had disabilities.  

1853-
1948 

F 

5 Thomas Tucker  
Lake Street (alley 
between Picture 
House and the 
Lancer) 

Thomas Tucker a young petty thief was 
caught disposing of his stolen goods 
down a sewer in an alley in this 
location. Even as a 16yr old, he was 
sentenced to 10 years ‘transportation’, 
and was shipped off to an Australian 
penal colony. 

1839 M 

6 John (Jack) 
Pouchot  
Top Bell Pub, 10 
Market Sq 

Youngest ever recipient of the 
Distinguished Conduct Medal, WW1 
Son of Emily Pouchot, the former 
landlady of the Top Bell Hotel, tragically 
Emily died in a pub fire when John was 
a youngster.  

1899-
1918 

M 

7 Alfred 
Waterhouse 
Barclays Building, 
2 Market Square 

Architect of the building, one of his first 
commissions, he went on to design 
other iconic British landmarks including 
the Natural History Museum in London 

1830-
1905 

M 

8 Kitty Towers 
The Swan Hotel, 
50 High Street 

Landlady during interesting times, 
there are great visitor book comments 
during her time there. 

1800s – 
early 
1900s 

F 

9 Mr Griffin  
War Memorial, 
Church 

War Memorial 
From Griffin Bros shop in the current 
Oxfam location, he took photos of 
families/loved ones to send out to 
soldiers. 

WW2 M 

10 Mary Norton  Famous author of the Borrowers 
 

1903-
1992 

F 

Page 24



 
  

# Historical Name & 
Location 
 

Notes Era Gender 
M/F 

Leighton Middle 
School, Cedars 
House, High Street 

11 Alice Dunleavy 
Vimy  bomber 
propeller 

Alice worked in the Vimy factory and 
was also a volunteer at the Red Cross 
Hospital on Lake St 

WW1 F 

12 Mr Muddiman 
 

First editor of the LBO 
Former LBO location 

tbc M 

 
 
4 TIMELINE 
 
4.1  The app company copywriters are currently converting the research into short  

interesting sections for each historical person (location) on the trail. 
 

4.2 Courtesy letters are being sent to all locations identified for the trail, including  
           any close known living relatives of people featured. 

 
4.3 Images and permissions to use the images are being sought for each location. 

 
4.4 Launch – the project Officer will hand-over to the Events Team to incorporate 
           into the Living History Day. 

 
5.  CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Similar to the continued promotion of the Children’s Trail, this trail will be 

promoted at other times of the year. A plan will be drafted over the coming 
months. 
 
 
 
 END 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 
 
 
 
 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee      

 
 
Date:  3 June 2019  
 
Title:  Business Networking Event update report 

  
 
Purpose of the Report: To provide a progress report on the Business 

Networking Event  
 
Contact Officer: Farrah Khan, Town & Community Promotions 

Officer  
 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are:  
 
1.1 To note the report. 

 
1.2 To carry forward the unspent budget of £105.80 into financial year  

2020/21 to contribute to the next year’s event and in recognition of ever 
increasing delivery costs.  

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Committee agreed to fund the event for a further 3 years, this being Year 1, and 

Corporate Objective/s 
LLTC Three Year Plan –  

Aim: 2 - To continue to support a vibrant 
town through partnership working and 
initiatives including management of the 
street market, support for local 
businesses, town and community 
promotions and town centre 
enhancements. 

Implications:   
Financial √ 3-year delivery plan with allocation of £2,000 per year + 

income generated 

Human Resources √ Time planning and management of an annual events 
programme and to plan workloads 

Operational/Service 
delivery 

√ Year 1 of 3-year plan 

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health and 
Safety 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



 
  

endorsed the 3-year delivery plan which can be found at Appendix A.    
 
2.2     The three-year plan continues to define the overall objectives with a view to set 

up measurable outcomes that can be evaluated annually, with a final evaluation 
of all data captured post event in Year 3.  
 

2.3      The Business Networking Event has been held annually since 2013. Now in its 
7th year, providing the opportunity for local business people and businesses to 
network, seek advice, develop contacts and promote their own business.  

 
2.4 Leighton-Linslade Town Council (LLTC) work in partnership with Bee Local 

Magazine, HASCAT Safety, LB Connect, Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) 
& Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) who also sponsor the event, with a 
renewed 3-year plan until 2021.   
 

3. INFORMATION 
 
3.1  The Spring Annual Networking event was held on 

Wednesday 24th April 2019 between 6pm – 8.30pm at the 
Leighton Buzzard Golf Club. The venue was agreed by 
the planning group as a suitable environment with good 
on-site facilities for a business networking event, ample 
parking and a separate adjacent room for a Speaker. 

 
3.2 The theme was Social Media. A Marketing expert provided 2 slots of a short 

presentation during the evening on how to ‘build a Powerful Community and 
Personal Social Media Brand’, providing hints and tips for smaller businesses 
engaging with their customer base through social media platforms. In addition, 
10 stands were taken by a networking groups or business information groups 
including the sponsors and LLTC.  

 
3.3  177 people registered through Eventbrite pre-event. 192 attendees registered 

in total plus 15 registered on the night. 77 registered attendees did not show 
up. Final attendance estimate was 117 people for the night. 

 
3.4  Eventbrite remains a useful tool for ease of registration and promotion of the 

event. We are able to gain useful data from those registering such as the 
challenges they face as a business and business size. It also allows scheduled 
reminders further ensuring the registration process to remain efficient and 
effective pre and post event. The on tap contact sharing device as supplied by 
Blendology also remains popular and provides a more accurate analysis of the 
event participation and volume of actual networking that took place. 

 
3.5    Expenditure as follows:  

Core budget (LLTC) £2000 

Budget including income  (Sponsors and stands) £2975 

Expenditure  £2869.20 

Balance  

Page 28



 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6      The total amount spent on the event including advertising, venue, 

refreshments, photographer, merchandise was £2,869.20 -  leaving a balance 
of £105.80. This does not include staffing costs (£216.21) which to date, LLTC 
has never reclaimed from the event budget.  

 
3.7  Partners requested to reduce their sponsorship donation for this year’s event.  

For some partners, this enabled securing of funding from their respective 
organisations. This decrease in income was balanced out by increasing the cost 
of stands available for hire at the event by other attending business network 
groups and business support/promoters. Not all the available stand spaces 
were hired.  

 
3.8 Income targets for Year 1 was set at £1,000, this year’s event fell short of this 

by £25,  however this could be offset by the fact the Golf Club reduced their hire 
fee to have a stand at the event instead of paying it as an income. Thus it 
provided an ‘in kind’, hidden income.  

 
 
4.1  EVENT SURVEY AND FEEDBACK SUMMARY 
 
4.2 A full breakdown of event survey and feedback is within Appendix B Business 

Networking Event Evaluation 2019. 
 
4.3 A total of 65 responses were captured via the Evaluation Form on the night and 

Survey Monkey. Key statistics have been taken from this to provide the 
following:  
 
- 94% of the attendees found the event useful to them and their business 
- 94% felt the event met their expectations and would attend future events  
- 91% would recommend this event to other businesses 
- 90% rated the event Excellent (49%) or Good ((40%) 

 
4.4 The event was successful in terms of attendance and meeting the needs of 

those attending. Overall, it was felt there was “a great buzz” throughout the 
evening and the “chatter didn’t stop”, (verbal quotes taken on the night.) 

 
4.4 Comments gathered from the survey identified that attendees have made 

contacts that will help move their business forward and that they valued the 
opportunity for networking and making connections, and the Speaker was well 
received.  

  
4.5 Collaborative working with the partners on the delivery of the event continues 

to ensure the event focuses and reflects local businesses with partners 

(Additional event staffing budget costs of £216.21, 
coded to LLTC event staff budget) 

£105.80 

Page 29



 
  

providing the networks into the local business communities.  
 
4.6 Due to this this partnership approach, the Business Networking Event was 1 of 

3 finalists for ‘Business Networking Group of the Year’ at the Luton & Beds SME 
Business Awards (Small, Medium Enterprises). Whilst the Council did not 
receive a prize, the Council is proud to have made it to the finals and raising 
our profile for how we support our local businesses.   

 
5.7 With the reduction of sponsorship income from the partners from £200 to £150, 

additional ways will be explored to attract further sponsorship and stand uptake 
at the event by improving the promotion of the benefits of having a stand: 

 
a. use of creating a ‘sponsorship/ stand package’. The intention to highlight 

the benefits and value that may be gained for stand holders when 
attending.  

 
b. the consideration of sending an ‘early-birds’ invitation to local 

businesses to gain an idea of interested parties in regards having a stand 
and at a reduced rate.   

 
c. Securing a paying guest speaker rather than payin them, to allow access 

to a wide potential clientel. This will need to be balanced with the needs 
of local businesses regarding needs of  business and current ‘hot topics’.   

 
 
6  CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 The annual evaluation reports will continue to shape the following year’s event  

delivery activity. It is important to maintain a standard set of performance 
indicators to help monitor the efftiveness of the events, and address any 
changes needed.  

 
5.5 Feedback gathered evidences that the Business Networking Event remains an 

invaluable event within the town for local businesses and those that attend, 
facilitating the opportunity for local businesses to come together as well as 
develop connections and useful contacts.  

 
6.2  Additional ways to attract income must be sought by allevent partners to hit 

year on year income targets 
 
6.3 Whilst small in amount, partners are reluctant to allow unspend funds of 

£105.80 remain with the Council. The remaining funds could contribute to next 
year’s event to help maintain a quality standard. 

 
 

End 
 

Page 30



 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

BUSINESS NETWORK - THREE YEAR PLAN 

The annual Business Network event takes place in late April each year.  

AIM: 

Support local businesses to flourish, sustain and increase business activity by 
facilitating a networking opportunity that introduces, promotes and encourages active 
liaison between businesses. 

Networking will provide the opportunity to: 

 Share information towards building a client or supplier base, 
 Collaborate in delivering services or projects, 
 Establish relationships and business mentoring, 
 Share knowledge and good practice, 
 Learn about available business support opportunities, 
 Encourage new businesses into the locality, 
 Learn about and meet other town-wide business networking groups, 
 Meet likeminded people. 
 Open new routes to market 

The above aims are achieved by: 

 Delivering an annual event with dedicated budget allocation from Cultural & 
Economic Services Committee.  

 Dedicating staff resources to prepare, manage and deliver the event. 
 Working in partnership with local organisations to help shape the look and feel 

of the event.  
 Extend the reach into the business community by activity partnering with local 

businesses to deliver and advertise the event.   
 Connecting regularly with local networking groups  

THREE YEAR PLAN (2019 – 2021)  

 Activity Detail Responsibility  

1 Maintain the current 
working relationship 
between all partners: 
Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council (LLTC), LB 
Connect, Federation of 
Small Businesses (FSB), 
Central Bedfordshire 

Working in partnership to remove 
barriers and enable business 
growth whilst maximising 
opportunities through networking.  
 
To share event survey intelligence 
therefore increasing impact of 
knowledge.  
 

Economic 
Development 
staff and 
supporting 
organisations. . 

Page 31



 
  

Council (CBC), HASCAT 
Safety & Bee Local.  

2 Where interest is shown, to 
accept additional local 
organisation involvement 
as needed. 

e.g. LB First As above 

3 Commit an annual event 
budget for the next 3 years.  
 

a. Event delivery:                       
b. Yr. 1 = £2000 (2019) 
c. Yr. 2 = £2000 (2020)               
d. Yr. 3 = £2000 (2021) 
e.  

 

As above 
 

4 Set an income target per 
yr. to offset event 
expenditure. 

Achieved through sponsorship and 
business support grants. 
 
Sponsorship target: 
Yr. 1 = £1000 
Yr. 2 = £1200 
Yr. 3 = £1250 
 

As above 

5 Establish a set of success 
indicators to measure event 
outcomes year on year. 
 

Maintain outline of feedback 
questionnaire to ensure comparable 
questioning year on year.   

As above 

6 Undertake a final review 
against original set of 
indicators. 
 
Inform next steps.  
 

Compile data from 2019-21 to 
inform the direction of the event for 
future years (2022 – 2024).  

As above 

 

Page 32



 
  

2019 BUSINESS 
NETWORKING EVENT 

SURVEY REPORT 
 

 

Page 33



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 1 of 8 

 

 

 

Contents 

 
1. Attendance Data .................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Budget (Leighton-Linslade Cultural & Economic Services Committee Budget) ............................ 2 

3. Feedback/ Debrief ................................................................................................................................. 3 

4. Survey Data and Anecdotal Feedback ................................................................................................ 4 

5. Recommendations ................................................................................................................................ 7 

 
  

                
                  

2019 Business Networking Event Multi-Agency Partner Groups & Sponsors : 
 

                    

 
 

           

 
                   

                                                            
 

Page 34



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 2 of 8 

The spring 2019 Business Networking Event took place on Wednesday 24th April 2019 between 6pm – 
8.30pm at Leighton Buzzard Golf Club. The following data and anecdotal feedback was gathered from 
completed Evaluation Forms on the night, responses on Survey Monkey, pre-registration questions placed 
on Eventbrite and comments posted on social media, thus proving an overall view of the value of this event 
to the business community and the partners involved in hosting the event.  

1. Attendance Data 
 
1.1. 177 people registered through Eventbrite pre-event. 192 attendees registered in total with 15 having 

registered on the night. 77 registered attendees did not show up. There was some double bookings, 
either people registering twice or registering for two or more spots for their company using the same 
name. 
 

1.2. Final attendance estimate was 117 people for the night. 
 

1.3. Registration by business/staff size: 
1 – 2:  82 (48%) 
3 – 10:   46 (27%) 
11 – 50:   28 (16%) 
50+:   15 (9%) 

2. Budget (Leighton-Linslade Cultural & Economic Services Budget)  
 
2.1. The Cultural & Economic Services Committee’s Business Development budget (101/4510) in 

financial year 2019/20 is £2,000. Previously reserves were earmarked for the expenditure for pre 
event advertising, marketing, the hire of the one tap Blendology system and other costs required to 
be paid prior to the new financial year. This will now change so all pre-payments are made out of one 
financial year only moving forward.  
 

2.2. £975 income was generated this year via sponsorship (£150 each) from Hascat Safety, Bee Local, 
LB Connect, Central Bedfordshire Council and Federation of Small Businesses. 4 Local businesses 
or support groups also took a paid stand at £75 each (inc. Golf Club therefore a reduction in hire 
charge).  

 
2.3. Year 1 income target of the 3- year plan is set at £1,000 whereby we fell £25 under, however this 

could be offset by the fact the Golf Club reduced their hire fee to have a stand at the event instead 
of paying it as an income.  

 
2.4. Due to a remaining balance from the 2028/19 event, it was agreed by request of the main sponsors, 

to reduce their sponsorship income donation for this year’s event, and to ensure that they secure the 
funding from their respective businesses. The fee for smaller promotional stands was increased due 
to gaining valuable stand space in the main networking room, as opposed to a side room as last 
year. 

 
 

 

Venue & refreshments    £945.00 

Merchandise £246.50 

Advertising/ Publicity £630.31 

Leaflets/banners print costs £72.39 

Prize draw – Amazon voucher £50.00 

Blendology (digital name badges) £650.00 

Speaker £175.00 

Photographer/ expenses £100.00 

Staffing Costs £216.21 

Total £3,085.41 

Core budget (LLTC) £2000 

Budget including income 
(Sponsors and stands) 

£2975 

Expenditure  £2869.20 

Remaining Balance 
(Additional event staffing costs of 
£216.21, coded to LLTC event staff 
budget) 

 
£105.80 

Page 35



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 3 of 8 

The total amount spent on the event including advertising, venue, refreshments, photographer, 
merchandise was £2,869.20 -  leaving a balance of £105.80. This does not include staffing costs 
(£216.21) which to date, LLTC has never reclaimed from the event budget. 
 

3. Feedback/ Debrief 
 
The following feedback has been collated through 65 pieces of feedback from attendees at the event plus 
through the partner debrief meeting. The following points were noted and agreed upon:  
 
3.1. The event was successful in terms of attendance and meeting the needs of those attending. Overall, 

it was felt there was “a great buzz” throughout the evening and the “chatter didn’t stop”, (verbal 
quotes taken on the night.) 
 

3.2. Good continued use of the free Eventbrite online registration software, and its ability to link with Mail 
Chimp to allow invitations for next year. Provides scheduled email reminders prior to the event and 
the opportunity to gather useful data of issues the local businesses face whilst they are registering 
to attend the event. Using these methods streamline the preparation ensuring an efficient and 
effective work approach.  

 
3.3. The use of Blendology was once again a successful tool for attendees, acting as an ice breaker and 

an ease of way to exchange data/ information electronically. The statistics and analytical information 
provided valuable data and local business information, providing a more accurate analysis of the 
event participation and volume of actual networking that took place.  

 
3.4. The contact list was also generated and shared through Blendology with each attendee receiving 

details of those they had connected within 24 hours of the event finishing, plus a list of all registered 
attendees without contact details attached.  

 
3.5. This year all stands were placed in the main networking room with refreshments placed in the centre 

of the room, with some relaxed seating around the bar & refreshments area. This created a good 
flow around the room for networking and atmosphere, this change in layout was received well.  
 

3.6. A Speaker was bought in to provide a short presentation and discussion on how to use social media 
to create a personal brand and boost sales. Previously, Speakers had not always been well attended, 
or able to be heard. The subject matter must always be relevant to the time (a hot topic) for 
businesses. Feedback confirmed the Speaker was a success and well received. The use of the 
adjacent room at the Golf Club well placed to keep connected with the main networking room. Seating 
and tables were also placed here to keep in line with a relaxed informal evening. 

 
3.7. 1 Speaker currently remains suitable for this event with 2 time slots delivering the same presentation. 

This allowed attendees to choose a time slot preferable to them and minimise disruption to the 
networking opportunities. Also, it allows for attendees arriving at different times during the evening. 

 
3.8. The planning group further agreed that the venue remains to be a good purpose built location with 

good on-site facilities required for a business networking event/ environment, plus ample parking. 
We were well supported prior and during the event. Feedback on the venue and food options has 
been on the whole, good although it does take a large chunk of the budget. Staff were attentive to 
ensure hot drinks remained flowing and dietary requirements catered for.   

 
3.9. The engagement of Business Network leaders to promote their network through a stand at the event 

proved challenging. Whilst good number of network group stands were secured, an additional 1-2 
stands would have been preferable for interest and income. The event steering group will explore 
the use of creating a ‘sponsorship/ stand package’ to highlight the benefits and value that may be 
gained by doing so. This would be supported by data and statistics gained from the feedback forms. 
A good up-take on this will help in achieving the income targets set out for Year 2 & Year 3 of the 3-
year business plan. This would be further helped and supported by gaining an additional sponsor 
into the partnership. Page 36



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 4 of 8 

 
3.10. Focus was placed on an increased social media campaign this year, with a 6-week lead prior to the 

event. Each sponsoring partner received a Social Media post highlighting their sponsorship role and 
information in regard to their business/ company services and offerings. This will continue next year 
with an additional post on networking for first time attendees.   

 
3.11. The Business Networking publicity was moved inhouse to create posters/ banners/ advertising in line 

with other Leighton-Linslade Town Council (LLTC) events. Previously, all partners undertook various 
activities for creating promotional material. This streamlined delivery workload.  

 
3.12. In addition, Council staff made a point of attending other business networking groups in the run-up 

to the event to offer a personal invitation and to evidence the Council’s interest and support of local 
business.  
 

3.13. Working as a joint organising committee remains valuable to the event, increased collaboration has 
created more effective working partnerships amongst the committee partners.  
 

3.14. A £50 Amazon voucher or a Round of Golf for 2 prize was available as an added incentive to register 
and attend the event. The winners were randomly selected from those who attended the event via 
the Blendology post event attendees list.  

4. Survey Data and Anecdotal Feedback 
 
4.1.  2,874 total connections were made on the night.  

Total Unique Connections - 1,939 
 Average Unique Connections - 17 

Unique connection is when you tap with someone.  

A number of questions were updated from the previous 3 years as they were either no longer relevant, or 
required merging. The Evaluation Form 2019 is a one- sided form following previous feedback that it was 
too long.  
 
A total of 65 responses were gathered on the night and via survey monkey: 
 
4.2. Have you attended before? 

Yes No  

19 45 
   30%    75% 

 
4.3. Did the event meet your expectations and would you attend future events? 

Yes, fully Yes, somewhat  No 
Don’t 
know 

40 21 4 0 
   62%    32%    6%    0% 

 
4.4. Is this event useful to you and your business? 

Very  
useful 

Somewhat 
useful 

Not useful  
 

Don’t 
know 

32 29 3 1 

   49%    45%    5%    2% 

 
4.5. How likely are you to recommend this event to other businesses? 

 

Page 37



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 5 of 8 

 
            
 
 
4.6       How many new contacts have 

you made this evening? 
 

0 – 5 6 – 10 11 – 15 16 – 20 21+ 

12 27 20 2 3 

   19%    42%    31%    3%    5% 

 
 

4.6. What led you to attend tonight’s event? Please check all that apply: 
 

Make new contacts 52 80% Learn about local business 
support 18 28% 

Speaker 12 18% 

Discover new network groups 
13 20% 

Learn about networking 5 8% See the venue 2 3% 

Share information about my 
business 23 35% 

Other:  invited by a Cllr.  

 
 

4.7. How did you hear about the event? Please check all that apply: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.9.

 Please rate the following aspects of the event: 
 

 Excellent Good Average   
 

Below 
Average 

  

 

Poor  
 

Don’t 
Know 

 

 

 

Scheduling & 
Time 

37 58% 21 33% 3 5% 0 0% 2 3% 1  2% 64 

Invitation 35 54% 20 31% 3 5% 1 2% 0 0% 6 9% 65 

Ease of 
registration 

46 72% 14 22% 2 3% 1 2% 1 2% 0 0% 64 

Food & 
Beverage 

26 40% 22 34% 9 14% 2 3% 0 0% 6 9% 65 

Parking & 
Directions 

32 51% 22 35% 8 13% 0 0% 0 0% 1 2% 63 

Speaker 23 38% 12 20% 3 5% 2 3% 2 3% 1 3% 60 

Choice of 
Venue 

40   65% 17 27% 2 3% 1 2% 2 3% 0 0% 62 

 
 
4.10. How would you rate the Blendology digital badge system?  

 

Very likely Somewhat likely Not likely  
Don’t 
know 

37 22 5 0 
   58%    34%    8%    2% 

Personal invitation 16 
25% 

Outdoor banners 0 0% Word of mouth 14 22% 

Social media 13 20% Bee Local 5 9% Networking organisation 8 
12% 

About Town 2 3% LBO 2 3% Online search 2 4% 

Business2Business  
Business MK 3 5% 

Leaflet/ Poster 0 0% Leighton Buzz Radio: 2 3% 

Other: 4 6% FSB, Eventbrite, Buzzard Networking, 
Business Partner, Friends and Bee 
Local 

 

Page 38



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 6 of 8 

Excellent Good Average Below 
Average 

Poor Don’t know 

43 15 2 2 1 2 

46% 23% 3% 3% 1% 3% 

 
 
4.11. Overall, how would you rate this event? 

 

Excellent Good Average Below Average Poor Don’t know 

32 26 2 3 2 0 
49% 40% 3% 5% 3% 0% 

 
 
4.12.  What is your greatest challenges to your business at the moment? 
 

Domestic Economy 16 13% Access to Finance 10  8% 

Labour Costs  7   5%    Input Costs  4  3% 

Tax Burden  9   7% Fuel Costs  4  3% 

Consumer Demand 16 13% Utility Costs  4  3% 

Rent / Premises  21 16% Cost of Finance  5  4% 

Skilled Staff  18 18% Other : Funding, Attract new 
clients, Competition 

67 52% 

Foreign Economy  3   2%   

 
 
4.13. What you would like to see next year & any other comments and feedback? 

 

Positive feedback: 

- Fantastic event with great attendance. 
- Happy to always attend (1st time attendee) 
- Very Useful for start-ups 
- The Best Networking Event I've been to 
- Love It 
- I liked the tap device 
- I had a great evening, there were a lot of people, and I made some good contacts. 
- Very friendly atmosphere 
- The event was great, good format, great venue and good mix of attendees. 
 

Negative feedback: 

- Expected more. 
- More Exhibitors 
- I think the organisers need to look at a larger venue. 
- Disappointed with the interest of my business. People seemed more interested in talking 
  about themselves.  
- It was a lot smaller than I expected. 
 

Constructive criticism: 

- Delegate list as couldn’t connect with those I wished to!! 
Page 39



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 7 of 8 

- Better food labelling 
- Bigger name of company (on badge?) 
- The digital badge is great, but does not let you to link a comment of the discussed topic 
  to the new acquaintance 
- I attended the business network meeting last week and was very impressed by your  
  technology however, disappointed that the delegate list with all contact details is  
  available.  There were delegates there which I was unable to connect with and feel that  
  I’ve lost an opportunity of contacting via telephone or email.  I understand fully about the 
  Data Protection side of things but is there any way I can obtain a delegate list for the  
  event? 
 

Feedback on Social Media:  

I went, not many familiar faces but I suppose that’s the thing about networking.... was busy. I enjoyed 
it, nice free flowing and the water bottles are great from the town council. 
 
It was worth going. The talk was interesting around Social Media Marketing and lots of people of 
which very few I got to speak to. Well organised and lovely touch to lay on some nibbles and hot 
drinks. Apologies if others were there and I didn’t get to speak with you.   
 
It was lovely to see some familiar faces, put faces to names and to meet new people. Fab event - but 
could have done with more time to chat!   
 
It was a great event. Better than last year (not sure why). Talked to LOADS of people. Speaker was 
good too - inspired me to get my LinkedIn account sorted out. 
 
It was great and some good connections were made    
 
I went, didn't know what to expect and it was really good, made some great new connections and was 
able to put a face to some familiar names which was great. The venue was nice, although they could 
defo use an interior designer, didn't go to the SM talk but I would say  all in all a good networking 
event, especially as its free!   
 
It was much better than what I expected. There were many people to talk to, exchange experiences 
and be in contact with for future collaborations. The Leighton-Linslade Town Council Official has 
organised the event very well, from my point of view, and the Leighton Buzzard Golf Club was a very 
nice venue. I had many ideas to develop in the future for my business. Thanks to all the people with 
whom I had the chance to speak!   
 
 

5. Recommendations 
5.1       Continue to use the free version of the Eventbrite online registration tool for its ease of use with the  
            pre-registration of attendees. 
 

5.1. Continue to use various methods to capture useful feedback to determine, document and support the 
value of the event for local businesses. Continue to utilise the pre-registration process to capture 
some data formerly obtained in post event evaluation.  
 

5.2. Continue to work in collaboration with partners (CBC, FSB, LB Connect, Bee Local, Hascat) on the 
delivery of the event in order to share knowledge, workloads and useful contacts, to build relationships 
within the delivery group and share feedback on ‘business challenges’ for further exploration. 
 

5.3. Explore the use of creating a ‘sponsorship/ stand package’ to highlight the benefits and value that 
may be gained for stand holders at the event and to gain an additional sponsor. To be supported by 
data and statistics captured from event feedback.  
 

Page 40



Business Networking Event 2019  
Evaluation Report 

 

Page 8 of 8 

5.4. The above will also assist in meeting financial targets for future Business Networking Events Year 2 
& 3 as set out in the 3 year business plan of which a financial commitment has been agreed for a 
further 2 years by the Cultural & Economic Services Committee, providing a continuation of the 
evaluation process and to deliver an increased perceived value to the event for attendees.  
 

5.5. Continue to invite all networking / membership groups to attend the event and look to expand our 
business network leader’s invitation list for stands. Consideration of sending an ‘early-birds’ 
invitation to local businesses to gain an idea of interested parties in regards having a stand and at a 
reduced rate.   
 

5.6. Look into possibility/ ability to highlight attendees present on the night and in line with data protection 
with the contact sharing device next year i.e. Blendology.  
 

5.7. A speaker next year should be off similar cost, no more, to remain within budget unless specific 
sponsorship is secured. 

 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



 
 
 
 
 
Cultural & Economic Services Committee      

 
Date:    3 June 2019 
 
Title:   Update on TACTIC 
                                                                   
Purpose of the Report: To update members of work undertaken 

at TACTIC in February, March, April 2019 
 
Contact Officer: Tracey Quinn, TACTIC Centre Manager

  
 

Corporate Objective/s  VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF TOWN AND TOWN 
CENTRE To consider ways to support the increase in 
leisure and personal development opportunities for 
youth. 
 

Implications:   

Financial   

Human Resources   

Operational/Service 
delivery 

√ General Update 

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health and Safety   

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 
 

Should Members be minded, the recommendation is: 
 
1.1   To note the report. 
 
 
2. INTRODUCTION 
 
2.1 An introduction to the TACTIC service is found at Appendix A. 
 
3. YOUTH WORK: FEBRUARY 2019 TO APRIL 2019 
 

 A TACTIC Youth Volunteer won the High Sheriff’s Young People’s Citizenship 
Award for her outstanding contribution to volunteering in Leighton Buzzard. 

 The Pop Art project was completed with young people displaying their final Art 
on Canvas in the front windows of TACTIC for a community display. 

 TANG group has seen a variety of activities over the months with a visit to Tring 
Museum and two new youth volunteers have joined the group. 

 Awareness themes on eating disorders, county lines, sexual health, gaming 
addiction and LGBTQ/ sexuality have taken place. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 10



 
  

 Easter Project saw week one with a daily play scheme for 8-11yr olds and in 
week two we held a first aid training day, garden mural art, market stall activities 
and a special drop-in. 

 A basketball v tennis session was held at Pages Park to gauge interest in 
outdoor sports with basketball being the favoured activity to further explore. 

 The centre manager was involved in a multi-agency mapping group to discuss 
local concerns with traveller boys and sexual exploitation towards girls. 

 
4. Youth Forum 
 
4.1  The current Youth Forum (YF) project has seen the group design a Top Ten 

Tips mental health handy size booklet for other young people. Training for the 
new ‘Puzzled Minds’ peer education project is underway to enable young 
people to raise awareness on mental health and will commence on 29th May. 

 
4.2 The YF group membership has now changed. Older members move on and 

are busy with exams. We now have four new young people involved. This 
natural change cycle will have an impact on the group’s work over the year 
ahead until the group is re-established and formed. 

 
 
5. Staffing Update 
 
5.1  One of our part-time youth support workers has left to develop opportunities 

with the town council at Astral Park. We hope to recruit to this vacancy over the 
coming months. 
 

5.2  The Centre Manager and some staff will be attending training to update on 
drugs awareness, cyber online safety and adolescent brain development. 
Training is free and available to professionals across Bedfordshire. 

 
 
6. Statistics and Attendance 

 

Page 44



 
  

 
 
 There has been a slight drop in attendance with less girls attending in this 

period. There have been some concerns in town with Traveller boys bullying 
other young people and intimidating others, so some young people have 
chosen not to come into the town centre or drop-in at TACTIC as a result. 

 
 
6.1 There have been 57 appointments held with specialist agencies: 

  

4YP Talk-Space Work Club Totals 

Feb 4 12 2 19 

Mar 9 16 3 28 

Apr 4 3 3 10 

Totals 17 31 8 57 

 
6.2 Individual one-to-one (121) support with a TACTIC Youth Workers during       

February 2019 – April 2019 saw 61 undertaken, either via mentoring support or 
drop-in. The order of most presenting issues were - School, Mental Health, 
Family, and Sexual Health. Mentoring referrals over this period have seen a 
total of 10 Young People.   

 
 
7. Future Project Work over the coming months include: 

 
 Basketball satellite sport project. 
 Puzzled Minds mental health training. 
 Summer Play scheme for 8 – 11yr olds. 
 Summer Project for 12-19yr olds. 

 
 
 
 

END 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



CULTURAL & ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE    3 JUNE 2019   APPENDIX A  
            
 
 
WHAT IS TACTIC? - INTRODUCTION 
 
TACTIC = Teenage Advice Centre/Teenage Information Centre 
  
TACTIC Teenage Advice & Information Centre is a specialist young people’s service 
for 12 to 19 year-olds based in the centre of Leighton Buzzard/ Linslade Town. The 
centre has been operating in the town for sixteen years and is well established as a 
safe place for local young people. 
 
Young people can gain free advice and information on a variety of topics, meet new 
people, receive one-to-one (121) support, volunteer in their community and take part 
in positive activities. 

Young people can ‘drop-in’ Monday to Friday to speak with one of our Youth Workers 
or specialist agencies when they need help, advice or support with for example: 

 Anxiety and emotional wellbeing 

 Anger Management 

 Bullying 

 Friendship and relationships 

 Family relationships/changes 

 Jobs and employment 

 Problems relating to drug use 

 Risky Behaviour 

 School and College  

 Sexual health matters 

 Sexual orientation or questioning 

 Youth Volunteering 

 

Qualified Youth Workers offer 121 mentoring support to young people in a confidential 
setting and this allows space for exploring concerns and issues that may be affecting 
young people from reaching their goals or achieving their potential. 

TACTIC also works with specialist agencies/partners that provide support, advice 
and information, including: 

 CHUMS  – Emotional wellbeing service 

 BROOK   - Sexual health service 

 4YP         - Education, training and employment advice service 

 Amicus    - Work Club 

Positive activities for young people to engage with range from weekly themed 

awareness information and arts activities. TACTIC also organises Easter and Summer 

holiday activities for teenagers as well as Play schemes for 8 -11yr olds. The holiday 

projects can involve a variety of activities such as Arts, Sports, Trips and Training. 

Page 47



CULTURAL & ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE    3 JUNE 2019   APPENDIX A  
            
 
 
We also offer a Youth Volunteer Scheme for ages 14yrs –19yrs where young people 
can get involved in their local community and gain new skills/experiences. 

We run a weekly integrated disability youth group called TANG, (TACTIC Additional 
Needs Group) at Mentmore Pavilion on a Monday evening as one of our established 
satellite provisions. Our developing second satellite project is currently focusing on 
Sports in the Park over the summer months ahead. 

The TACTIC Youth Forum are a group of young people that come together to develop 
projects that other young people may be interested in and or community social projects 
such as an annual Christmas meal for Older People. Their current puzzled minds 
project focuses on peer educating for mental health awareness. 

The TACTIC team also offer workshops to schools as part of our ‘Schools Offer’ based 

on personal, health and social knowledge and awareness topics (PSHE). 

The centre facility is hired out during the day to community/charity groups or 

individuals and this generates a small income. 

The TACTIC team is a team made up of 3 full-time staff, 2 part-time staff and one day 

a week, admin support. Four of the key staff are qualified Youth Workers. 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 
 
 
 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee      

 
Date:    3 June 2019 
 
Title:   Market Policy Updates 
 
Purpose of the Report: To update Market Policies and 

Procedures. 
 
Contact Officer: Vivien Cannon, Head of Cultural and 

Economic Services  
  

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim: 2 - To continue to support a 
vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives including 
management of the street market, support for local businesses, 
town and community promotions and town centre enhancements. 

Implications:   

Financial   

Human Resources   

Operational/Service delivery √ Operational policy review 

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health and Safety   
 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are; 
 
1.1 To endorse the creation of two separate policy documents entitled, 

Adverse Weather Policy and Critical Incident Policy, thus deleting the 
single document recently renamed Market Safety Policy.   
 

1.2 To recommend that Policy and Finance endorse the Critical Incident 
Policy and await further development of the Adverse Weather Policy. 

 
 

2. INFORMATION  
 

2.1 Following a task meeting between officers and traders, the Market Cancellation 
Policy was redrafted and remains in draft format until such time that the 
Council’s new insurers are appointed, and their views sought on its contents. 
Following receipt of their views, the draft proposed Adverse Weather Policy will 
be presented at a second task group meeting to gather further feedback prior 
to being endorsed by the Council. 

 
2.2 For reasons set out above, the draft policy was not presented to the Market Sub 

Committee though reference was made to the draft policy to show intent and 
an update on work progress for Committee’s awareness.  
 

2.3 The language of ‘cancellation’ was challenged by the trader representative 
during the meeting. Whilst there may be extreme adverse weather that causes 
the market to be ‘cancelled’ or ‘closed’, the general aim being explored is to 

Page 49

Agenda Item 11



 
  

keep the market open with alternative operational practices at times of adverse 
weather. The trader representative felt the word ‘cancellation’ could impact on 
trader’s application of insurance cover, so Committee sought a compromise. It 
resolved to rename the Market Cancellation Policy as Market Safety Policy. It 
considered that it  would cover a wider range of reasons for closure and clearly 
set out the process for managing safety on market days.  

 
2.4 The intent is to keep the market open within safe parameters. Officers propose 

to separate out adverse weather guidelines from the original policy that 
combined weather and critical incidents thus creating two policies; Market 
Adverse Weather Policy and Market Critical Incident Policy. This will avoid 
dilution or confusing broadening of the meaning of any policy.  

 
2.5 Whilst there is no wish to ‘cancel’ or ‘close’ the market, incidents beyond the 

control of the Council could dictate that the market does not operate, e.g. acts 
of God, incidents of building fires in the High Street or terrorist threats. Clear 
guidance on these examples have been separated out into the proposed 
Critical Incident Policy, attached at Appendix A.  

 
 
3. CONCLUSIONS  
 
3.1 The intent is to keep the market open in adverse weather conditions within safe 

operational parameters. Liaison with traders will be reconvened once initial 
feedback from the Council’s newly appointed insurers is secured on draft 
proposals.  

 
3.2 It is clear there are sensitivities regarding language used in policy documents. 

The content of a policy will provide clarity of meaning and procedures. 
 
3.3 Whilst a balance between language and actual procedures are being dealt with 

through the proposal for two separate documents, Committee will be aware that 
overall responsibility for the safe operation of the market remains paramount 
and will require the understanding and backing of the Council’s Insurers.  

   
 
 
 

END 

Page 50



 

V1 May 2019 
 

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD  

Tel: 01525 631920 

Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

APPENDIX A 

Leighton Buzzard Market Critical Incident Policy 2019 

 

Introduction 

The Council has the right to close or cancel the market at short notice and at their 

absolute discretion if they consider this to be necessary on the grounds of public 

safety. This includes, and is not exhaustive, “acts of God”, terrorism, flood, unexpected 

highway maintenance and fire incidents in the High Street, etc.  

The Council needs to be confident that all responsibilities and liabilities are managed 

reasonably. 

 

In making the decision to operate alternative trading arrangements, cancel or 

close the market, the Council’s approach is to: 

 Ensure that safety is of paramount importance for the public, traders and 

Council employees. 

 Ensure that decisions for the market are managed in a consistent manner. 

 Enable as many traders as practically possible to have the choice to trade.  

 Notify traders of the decision to operate alternative trading arrangements or 

cancel “in advance” by 48 hours, thus allowing traders to make alternative 

arrangements. 

 If the decision to close has been made on the day, all traders to cease trading 

at the earliest with no exceptions. 

 Undertake the management of the market with due diligence upkeeping the 

Council’s responsibilities and liabilities working reasonably within legislative 

and the Insurer’s, advisory parameters.  

 

Payment schedule  

On such occasions that the Council initiates critical incident procedures or to close the 

market on the day, the trading fees for that day will be reduced/waivered – the amount 

depending on circumstances. If the decision is made to close the market within 48 

hours’ notice, no fee will be charged.  The same would apply should a representative 

or the emergency services take an action or makes a decision that impacts on the 

ability of the market to continue operating. 

 

Adherence to Council Policy 

Whilst the Council will implement its critical incident procedures, a minority of traders 

may place their business needs above the welfare of themselves, their staff and those 

within the High Street. If a trader ignores the instruction of the Council or from the 

Page 51



 

V1 May 2019 
 

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD  

Tel: 01525 631920 

Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

emergency services, e.g. Police, Army or Health Authority, in relation to a critical 

incident, the Council will have no alternative but to initiate the use of the Market Trader 

Disciplinary Procedure.   

Procedures 

Incidents & Emergencies 

In the event of an incident or emergency taking place, an emergency liaison team 

(ELT) should form, consisting of;  

 Market Manager,  

 Market Porter, 

 If present – representative of the emergency services (e.g. Police, NHS,  Fire 

Service, Army, Local Authority) 

 Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s Health and safety Advisor  

The ELT should meet where the Market Noticeboard is placed next to the entrance to  

Pizza Express (Old Fire Station), away from members of the public.  

In the event of the information point being unsafe or impracticable, the ELT should 

arrange to meet in a safe place where the market control can be re-established, 

preferably away from the public.  

 

Major Incidents 

A major incident is defined as one which requires the implementation of special 

arrangements by one or more of the emergency services; the NHS or the Local 

Authority.  

In the event of a major incident being declared, the ELT may summons the assistance 

of any members of available staff to assist with the incident.  

The ELT will take direction from the agency that has primacy for the incident and make 

all resources available to them.  

In the event of any incident, the Market Manager or their representative will when 

practicably possible, alert a member of the senior management team of Leighton-

Linslade Town Council and the health and safety advisor of Leighton-Linslade Town 

Council. 

 

Fire within the site 

In the event of a member of staff discovering, or being made aware of a fire, they must;  

Raise the alarm by calling 999 and requesting the assistance of the Fire Service 

and 

Page 52



 

V1 May 2019 
 

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD  

Tel: 01525 631920 

Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

Inform the Market Manager or their representative, so announcements can be made. 

Assist in the evacuation of members of the public and staff in the vicinity of the fire 

Assist with clearing an egress route for emergency services vehicles.  

The caller should ensure the following information is given to the fire brigade;  

 Venue & Location of Fire  

 Access to the site is from Lake Street 

 There is a large scale / market event taking place at the site 

 

The Market Manager or their representative will meet the fire vehicles upon their arrival 

on site and provide further information regarding the incident to the senior fire officer.  

All members of staff and traders should assemble at the assembly point outside 

Stratton’s Butchers and await further instruction.  

  

Discovery of a Suspicious Package 

Should a member of staff discover or be made aware of a suspicious package, they 

must alert the Market Manager or their representative by the quickest possible means 

without causing undue alarm.  If calling by radio or by mobile phone, this should be 

done no less than 20m from the package, and out of earshot of members of the public.  

One person from the market team should keep watch from a safe distance on the 

package, ensuring no persons tamper with or try to gain access to the package.  

If appropriate, the area around the package should be isolated and staff and public 

evacuated from the area;  

 Rucksack sized devices & smaller – 100m 

 Suitcase up to car sized devices – 200m 

 Car to Van sized devices – 400m  

The area into which people are being evacuated should be checked for secondary 

suspicious devices prior to evacuation. 

The Market Manager or their representative should contact Bedfordshire Police and 

relay all of the information, which is available to them at the time.  

The Police will take control of the incident upon arrival at site, and resources should 

be made available to support this.  

Nobody should return onto site until the Police give the all clear to the Market Manager 

or their representative.  

 

 

Page 53



 

V1 May 2019 
 

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD  

Tel: 01525 631920 

Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

Cleansing Issues  

All cleansing issues should be reported to the Market manager or their representative.  

Hazard tape and emergency supplies are available from the Market lock-up (Bell Alley) 

should they be required.  

 

Missing Persons  

Any member of staff or trader who encounters or is presented with a lost child / 

vulnerable adult should inform the Market Manager or their representative, 

immediately with the following information;  

 Name 

 Age 

 Description & Clothing items  

 

The Market Manager or their representative shall meet the lost child / person at the 

place they have been found and remain there until the parent/guardian/carer has been 

located.  

Messages should not be broadcast and messages via mobile radio system between 

staff regarding lost children should be made away from earshot of the public.  

For situations where an adult has lost their child, a name and description of the child 

should be circulated to all members of staff as quickly as possible.  

If a child / vulnerable has remained missing for more that 10 minutes, the Market 

Manager or their representative, must call 999 and report the missing person to the 

Police requesting their assistance. 

 

All other incidents  

All other incidents should be reported to the Market Manager or their representative 

who will deal with the incident, utilising staff accordingly.  

Any incident, which has the potential for media interest, will be passed onto senior 

management at Leighton-Linslade Town Council at the earliest opportunity.  

No members of staff should speak to the media regarding any incidents. 

 

Market Closure 

The Market manager or their representative has the authority to cancel or close the 

market if a critical incident occurs. The decision must be made with due consideration 

Page 54



 

V1 May 2019 
 

The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD  

Tel: 01525 631920 

Email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Website: www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

and when possible with the agreement of senior management of Leighton-Linslade 

Town Council.   

In the event of a decision to cancel or close the event, the following steps are to be 

taken;  

 Local media to be made aware of the decision to cancel . 

 Website, Facebook & Twitter to be updated with the information regarding 

cancellation / closure. 

 

Pre-scripted Announcements  

Partial Evacuation 

Ladies & Gentlemen, Due to circumstances beyond our control it has become 

necessary to evacuate (INSERT EVACUATION AREA). At this time the rest of the 

market is still operational. Please move away from (INSERT EVACUATION AREA) 

and continue with your visit elsewhere at the market. 

Full Evacuation 

Ladies & Gentlemen, due to circumstances beyond our control it has become 

necessary to evacuate Leighton Buzzard High Street. Please make your way to the 

nearest exit as quickly and as safely as possible following directions from members of 

staff.  

 

Closure of Market 

Ladies & Gentlemen, due to circumstances beyond our control, and due to an ongoing 

incident, it has been decided to cancel the remaining portion of today’s market. Thank 

you for your assistance and cooperation.  

 

Post Incident Recording 

As soon as is practically possible, the Market Manager or their representative, record 

the facts of the incident – to include photographs taken, documents/instructions 

provided by emergency services.  

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



 
 
 
 
 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee        

 
Date:    3 June 2019 
 
Title:   Budget update 
 
Purpose of the Report: To monitor Committee budgets 
 
Contact Officer: Vivien Cannon, Head of Economic 

Development  

 

Corporate Objective/s  LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 2. 
Implications:   
Financial √ 2019/20 budget update  

Human Resources   
Operational/Service 
delivery 

  

Procedural/Legal   
Risk/Health and Safety   

 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should members be minded the recommendations are to: 
 
1.1 Note the report. 

 
1.2 To allocate earmarked reserves budget 9028, (signage) to continue 

signage improvements for Ryland Mews and Bell Alley in keeping with 
previous work at Peacock Mews and Friday Street. 

 
1.3 To endorse spend on installing fire doors in TACTIC at £2,100 from 

earmarked reserves budget 9020. 
 

1.4 To endorse the use of earmarked reserves budget 9020, of £1,656, for 
updating of 3x computers for young people’s use.  

 
1.5 To recommend release of £114 from earmarked reserves budget 9049 to 

Homeless charity of the Youth Forum’s preference. 
 
1.6 To recommend moving earmarked reserves budget line 9027 and 

remaining funds of £249, into the Economic Development earmarked 
reserves 9018.  
 
 

2. BUDGET INFORMATION 
 

2.1 Current year budget - Appendix A (attached) is the budget account sheet for    
the 2019/20 financial year providing spend information to date. 

 Page 57

Agenda Item 12



 
  
2.2 At its meeting on 25/02/19, (Ref. 460/PF) Policy and Finance Committee 

endorsed the carry forward of unspent budget along with existing earmarked 
reserves into the next financial year as recommended by Committee at its 
meeting on 10/12/18. Amounts have been incorporated into the report 
information below within earmarked reserves.  

 
2.3 The table below provides detail regarding Committee’s current Earmarked 

reserves. The table provides Committee with a ‘running total’ showing what 
spend Committee has agreed. The Council’s financial system only shows 
‘committed’ spend so if a project is yet to be undertaken, the allocated budget 
is yet to be ‘committed through a purchase order. Thus, the table offers a more 
detailed picture of earmarked reserves and its intended allocation/use.  

Page 58



 
  
EMR (970)  Information / rationale Remaining 

(9018) 
Economic 
Development 
£25,978 
 

To fund ongoing Town Centre focused activity, e.g. street 
furniture maintenance/updating, reprinting of shopping 
directories, Town maps, town banners, etc. Town centre 
attractions, e.g. Children’s Trail repairs. 

 
-Children’s Trail allocation of £2,600. Work will be 
      delivered in 2019. Order to be raised. 
-Committed for 2019/20 Market promotion / social  
      Media and market footfall counts. 
-Contribution to Best Bar None 2019/20 scheme 
 
 

Less 
 
 
 
 
 
£2,600 
 
£4,000 
£1,000 
 
=£18,378 
Remaining 
to allocate 

   

(9020) TACTIC 
£17,001  
 

To fund ongoing activity delivery, equipment refreshes, 
building upkeep and maintenance. 
 

Indication of spend/allocation in 2019/20: 

 £6,000 CHUMS service after 31/03/2019 until 
April 2020 (ref: Agenda item 11/03/19) 

 £1,656 /estimate -  Replace/update 3x young 
people computers  

 Fire doors and safety updates – estimate 
£2,100. 
 

To recommend spend on installing fire doors at 
£2,100 (Recommendation 1.3, 03/06/19). 
 
To recommend spend on updating 3x computers for 
young people’s use up to £1,656. (Recommendation 
1.4 on 03/06/19).  
 

Less 
 
 
 
£6,000 
 
£1,656 
 
£2,100 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
=£7,245 
Remaining 
to allocate  

   

(9049) 
Donations to 
TACTIC 
£1,238 

Gifted from the public to be used to support the work of 
TACTIC – activities for young people - and Youth Forum raised 
funds for specific causes.  
 

£114 of raised by Youth Forum for Homeless cause 
too be given to charity.  
 
To recommend release of £114 to Homeless charity 
of the Youth Forum’s preference. (Recommendation 
1.5 on 03/06/19) 
 
 
 
 
 

Less 
 
 
 
 
£114 
 
=£1,124 
Remaining 
to allocate 

Page 59



 
  

   

(9022) 
Community 
Access 
Defibrillators 
£3,042 

Un-used budget is rolled forward to facilitate maintenance, 
electricity supply and kit re-stock costs. To cover the remaining 
life span of the equipment; 7 years remaining.  
 

Committed – instalment of new cabinet (Post 
Office), date for work TBC.  

Less 
 
 
£705 
 
=£2,337 
Remaining  

   

(9026) 
Cultural & 
Economic 
Services 
£39,700 

To support the achievement of Council 5-Year Plan Objectives 
– e.g. pilot projects before long-term commitments are made or 
ruled out.  
 

Funding partnership with Leighton Library Cinema to 
pilot a Youth Film Club between July  and 
September as per Council objectives. (Ref. 164/CE) 

Less 
 
 
£2,400 
 
=£37,300 
Remaining 
to allocate 

   

(9027) 
Town Centre 
Management  
£804.12  

Accrued from previous years, work now picked up through 
general Economic Development earmarked reserves (9018) 

 
Town lamp post banners repairs/change over. 
 
Recommend moving this budget line and remaining 
funds of £249 into Economic Development 
earmarked reserves 9018. (Recommendation 1.6 on 
03/06/19). 
 

Less 
 
 
£555 
 
 
=£249 
Remaining 
to allocate 

   

(9028) 
Signage – 
proposed 
allocation of 
£3,829 

Committee endorsed to continue improving town centre 
signage. Peacock Mews and Friday Street/ Ropa Court 
signage completed. 
 

Recommend focus on Ryland Mews and Bell Alley 
in 2019/20. (Recommendation 1.2 on 03/06/19) 
 

Less 
 
 
£TBC  
 
=£3,828 
Remaining 
to allocate 

   

(9055) 
Public 
Conveniences 
£16,204 

To fund ongoing upkeep and maintenance.  

 
To recommend Town Clerk be given authority to 
spend should needed work exceed the allocated 
annual maintenance budget. (Recommendation 1.3 
on 03/06/19).  
 

Less 
 
=£16,204 
Remaining 
to allocate 

   

(9044) 
Christmas 
lights 
£1,075 

3-year contract in place 2019 to 2021 – to manage contract 
period and cover repair callouts, damage, improve 
infrastructure, and pay for Christmas tree, etc. 

 
 
 

Less 
 
=£1,075 
Remaining 
to allocate Page 60



 
  

 
 
END 

   

(9057) 
Community 
Projects 
23,615 

Committee endorsed it's use to expand community events 
programme over 3 years. 
 

(Ref. 140/CE) Remaining budget allocated to 
enhance the events programme with additional time 
and expenditure at Canal Festival, Band Concerts & 
Live TV Screening in financial years 2019/20, 
2020/21 & 2021/2022. (To review these changes 
after the first year before continuing for the 
remaining two years.) 1yr = £7,500 / 3yrs £22,500 
 

Less 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£22,500 
 
=£1,115. 
Remaining 
to allocate 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



 
 
 
 
 
Cultural and Economic Services Committee      

 
Date:    3 June 2019 
 
Title:   Town Centre WiFi 
 
Purpose of the Report: To consider commissioning Town 

Centre WIFi services and additional 
footfall intelligence gathering. 

 
Contact Officer: Vivien Cannon, Head of Cultural and 

Economic Services  
  

Corporate Objective/s 
LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim: 2 - To continue to support a vibrant town through partnership 
working and initiatives including management of the street market, support for local businesses, 
town and community promotions and town centre enhancements. 

Implications:   

Financial   

Human Resources   

Operational/Service delivery √ Operational procedure review 

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health and Safety   
 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are - 
 
1.1 To recommend to Council to enter into a delivery contract with supplier 

‘B’ for town centre WiFi provision for three-years at a cost of up to £28k. 
 
or  
 

1.2 To recommend to Council to enter into a delivery contract with supplier 
‘B’ for town centre WiFi provision and footfall insight provision for  three-
years at a cost of up to £38k. 
 

1.3 To recommend to Council that officers liaise with Central Bedfordshire 
Council  to draw down s106 monies reflective of Council’s endorsed 
recommendation - either 1.1 or 1.2 above.  

 
 

2. BACKGROUND  
 
2.1 Under the heading of ‘Vibrancy and Vitality of Town and Town Centre’, the 

Council’s Five-Year Plan and Objectives 2019 – 2024, lists the objective no.22, 
to “Consider the provision of town centre WiFi (including footfall monitoring 
facility).”  

 
2.2 As Members are minded, the Town Council endorsed and agreed that it would 

Page 63

Agenda Item 13



 
  

at the appropriate time further investigate and possibly bring forward the 
following projects: 

 

 Town centre WiFi 

 Pigeon management (within town centre) 

 Living History legacy feature (work underway) 
 
2.3 Council delegated authority to Cultural and Economic Services (C&E) to further 

explore the merits of the three projects, with any recommendations thereafter 
being returned to Council for its decision (12/09/16. Ref. CE/011). 

 
2.4 At its meeting on 03/09/18, Committee resolved to instruct officers to investigate 

further the potential for delivery of town centre WiFi provision for future 
Committee consideration. (Ref. 126/CE). At the same meeting, CBC officers 
were in attendance following an expression to support the Town Council in 
achieveing this project. Whilst committee identified a budget, Central 
Bedfordshire Council (CBC) officers proposed the spend of s106 funds to this 
end. CBC officers have also been invited to provide feedback on the received 
quotes, i.e. officer with IT knowledge and service area experience.  

 
2.5      At its meeting on 11/03/19, Committee endorsed the allocation of s106 planning 

gain funds towards town centre enhancments. (Ref. 165/CE). Four projects 
were put forward, one being town centre WiFi. This budget would be utilised for 
WiFi delivery first.    

 
 
3. INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Invitations to quote were sent out to 8 prospective suppliers. One responded 

saying they would not be quoting and out of the remaining suppliers, two 
submitted quotes.  

 
3.2 Suppliers were invited to submit a quote for a one-year contract for delivery and 

maintenance of the WiFi system that could be extended for a further two years, 
three in total, should Committee be minded. This period would secure practical 
experience for the Council providing a good understanding of what is needed 
in managing such a system; enough time to assess its usage and value to the 
town centre.     

 
3.3 The primary element of the quote being considered is the provision of the WiFi 

system. 
 

3.4 Suppliers were asked to state whether they comply with Friendly WiFi 
standards and certification. Friendly WiFi is a government-initiated safe 
certification standard for public WiFi. The Friendly WiFi symbol tells you where 
the service meets minimum filtering standards – particularly in areas where 
children are present. Approved venues and locations worldwide displaying the 
Friendly WiFi symbol have proved their service blocks access to pornography, 
images and videos of child sexual abuse and web pages known by the Internet 
Watch Foundation to host indecent images of children. 

Page 64

https://www.iwf.org.uk/become-a-member/services-for-members/url-list
https://www.iwf.org.uk/become-a-member/services-for-members/url-list


 
  

 
3.5 Suppliers were asked to quote for a town centre area of coverage as per 

 attached map, at Appendix A. 
 

3.6 As part of the quote invitation, officers requested that suppliers provided 
additional information on how their WiFi systems could be enhanced to support 
town centre footfall intelligence gathering. The aim being to inform Committee 
of the system’s future proofing potential should Committee be minded to install 
town centre footfall counting systems in the future.  

 
3.7 There are many systems for counting footfall. To date, the Council has 

contracted manual counts undertaken at similar times of the year and/or bi-
annually. The advantage of intelligence gathering system linked to the 
installation of a WIFi system is that it can provide data throughout the year 
leading to a greater understanding of how the town centre is used.  

 
3.7 The future use and survival of High Streets is a national discussion. 

Understanding their use has never been more critical in providing intelligence 
to guide decisions on how to maintain a High Street that residents wish to use, 
people want to visit, and businesses want to invest in. The cost effectiveness 
of installing intelligence capturing systems at the same time as installing WIFi 
is worthy of Committee’s consideration. For this reason, suppliers were asked 
to include footfall counting systems in their quote. 
 

3.8 No two footfall counting systems are the same and it would be fair to say that 
the suppliers offering a quote have different systems with different ‘pros and 
cons’. Regardless of this, both can provide the Council with more data and more 
frequently than before. 

 
 

4 QUOTES 
 
4.1 Quotes provided do not include costs for planning permission should it be 

needed or installation of any additional power supplies if none are available 
where placement of infrastructure is needed. The aim is to use existing street 
furniture and infrastructure. The recommendations above therefore, set out an  
‘up to’ spending limit to facilitate these additional requirements.   

 
4.2 Supplier A – 

An experienced and reputable footfall intelligence and analyst provider and this 
is the supplier’s primary function. WiFi provision is secured through their 
delivery partner (subcontracted). Therefore, supplier states that their proposal 
focuses on footfall intelligence information and costs. WiFi costs provided are 
less detailed than requested. Supplier provides 1yr’s WiFi pricing information 
and does not include maintenance fees. 
 

 
4.3 Supplier B –  

Provides both WiFi and footfall intelligence systems in-house. Has provided 
detailed breakdown of costs for WiFi and guaranteed a fixed annual licence and 

Page 65



 
  

support fee for a 3-yr period. Supplier states their product complies with 
Friendly WiFi standards. Should Committee be minded to pursue additional 
footfall intelligence, supplier gives reference to GDPR issues stating they will 
remain responsible for personal data. 
 
 

4.3 As per para. 3.3 above, the primary focus for the quote is the provision of WiFi.  
 
4.4 The table below presents quote information: 

 

Supplier A B Comments 

Wi Fi 
Installation 
& 1yr 
delivery 

Circa 
£16k 

Circa 
£20k 

Planning application costs if needed have not 
been included by either supplier. 
 
Both suppliers present indicative costs 
pending confirmation of final survey and use 
of existing or new infrastructure fixing points. 
 
Both suppliers identify there may be 
additional costs to install additional power 
supplies if required. The aim being to access 
existing services.   
 
Supplier A – provides licencing which covers 
a period of 5 yrs and state it includes 
maintenance. Internet connection is 
assumed, and cost does not include set up of 
connection.  
 
Supplier B – includes costs of internet 
connection, licence fees and maintenance. 
 

Wi Fi 
Installation 
& 3yrs 
delivery 

Circa 
£ - 

Circa 
£23k 

Supplier A – No detail has been given 
regarding costs of a further two years 
specifically for WiFi services – 
support/maintenance. 
 
Supplier B – provide a fixed fee for a 3-yr 
period to cover licencing and support costs. 

    

Footfall 
intelligence 
& 1yr 
delivery 

Circa 
£14k 

Circa 
£6k 

Supplier B – provides costs dependent on 
installation taking place at the same time as 
the WiFi infrastructure.  

intelligence 
& 3yrs 
delivery 

Circa 
£36k 

Circa 
£10k 

 

    

5 CONCLUSIONS 
 

Page 66



 
  
5.1 The set-up costs are the same regardless of whether WiFi is provided for one 

year or three. The additional costs to extend the provision to three years is small 
in comparison to the set-up costs. A three-year provision would provide a more 
robust period for assessing the impact, benefits or otherwise of having town 
centre WiFi.  

 
5.2 The primary work focus is to install town Centre WiFi.  Committee may wish to 

consider the advantages of securing footfall counting systems at the same time 
for cost effectiveness and to increase its ability to understand the how the High 
Street is used towards aiding future decision-making.  

 
5.3 Quotes provided are indicative to be confirmed following site surveys. In 

addition, planning consent costs may also need to be met . The 
recommendations above provide flexibility in assessing the total budget 
required whilst offering a maximum amount for spend.  

 
 

END 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



  

Page 1 of 2 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
CULTURAL & ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE  WORK PLAN 2019-2020  

 

Incorporating Cultural & Economic Services Strategic Objectives for 2019-2024 (from Town Council Three Year Plan) 
 

VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF TOWN AND TOWN CENTRE 
 

Comments 

To continue to support a vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives including management of the 
street market, support for local businesses, town and community promotions and town centre enhancements. 

 

 

This work will be primarily within the remit of the Cultural & Economic Services Committee. 
 

 

17 To consider delivery of a Town Ranger service. 
 

 

18 To promote the creation of a soft play facility within the town. 
 

 

19 To identify, promote and celebrate the unique features and heritage of the Parish to both residents and visitors. 
a) Social Heritage Trail   

b) Town Centre Architectural Lighting Scheme  

 
Underway 
Underway 

20 To consider taking on additional services, where practicable and where considered beneficial to the town. 
 

 

21 To promote the town centre as a safe and vibrant place to visit in the evening. 
a) Street Food Heroes – 1600-2100, attending 5 times during summer months  

 
Underway 

22 Consider the provision of town centre Wi-Fi (including footfall monitoring facility). 
a) Quotes received for Committee consideration 

 
03/06/19 

23 To continue to manage, promote and develop the street market. 
 

 
Ongoing 

24 To continue to deliver quality community events and regularly review their scope and delivery. 
Pilot year for enhancements of Band Concert 

 
Ongoing 

25 To consider ways to work with town centre businesses to achieve digital/ on-line commerce options and promote the 
town’s shopping/ leisure offer. 
 

 

26 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure and personal development opportunities for youth. 
a) Pilot Youth Film Club, July – Sept 2019 with Leighton Buzzard Library Theatre 

 
Underway 

27 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure opportunities for older people. 
 

 

 
 
 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 14



  

Page 2 of 2 

WORK PLAN 2019-2020 
 

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2019-2020 

 
11 March 2019 

TACTIC 
Market update (Sub-Committee 
minutes) 
Budget monitoring 
Youth Promise Grant  
Events 
Best Bar None 

Town Centre Wi-Fi – verbal update 
Town Centre Pigeon Management – verbal update 
 

  
03 June 2019 

TACTIC 
Market update (Sub-Committee 
minutes) 
Budget monitoring 
Events 
Best Bar None 

Youth Promise Grant Evaluation – deferred to 02/09/19 
Heritage Trail Update  
Business Networking Event, post event report 
Town Centre Wi-Fi 
 

 
02 September 2019 

TACTIC 
Market update (Sub-Committee 
minutes) 
Budget monitoring 
Events 
Best Bar None 

Youth Promise Grant Evaluation  
Pigeon Management 

 
09 December 2019 

TACTIC 
Market update (Sub-Committee 
minutes) 
Budget monitoring 
Events 
Best Bar None 

Youth Film Club post pilot project report 
 

 
09 March 2019 

TACTIC 
Market update (Sub-Committee 
minutes) 
Budget monitoring 
Events 
Best Bar None 

 

 

P
age 70


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS
	6 SUB COMMITTEE MINUTES
	7 COMMUNITY EVENTS UPDATE
	Appendix A_VE Day Commemoration Outline

	8 SOCIAL HERITAGE TRAIL
	9 BUSINESS NETWORKING EVENT
	Appendix A 3-Year Business Networking Event Plan
	Appendix B_Business Networking Event Evaluation 2019

	10 TACTIC UPDATE
	TACTIC Appendix A

	11 MARKET POLICY UPDATES
	Appendix A Leighton Buzzard Market Critical Incident Policy

	12 BUDGET REPORT
	13 TOWN CENTRE WI-FI
	14 COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN

